

Department of Social Work

College of Nursing and Professional Disciplines 225 Centennial Drive, Stop 7135

Grand Forks, North Dakota 58202-8237 701-777-2669

Bachelor of Science in Social Work Student Handbook



Academic Year 2021-2022

University of North Dakota

Land Acknowledgement Statement

Today, the University of North Dakota rests on the ancestral lands of the Pembina and Red Lake Bands of Ojibwe and the Dakota Oyate - presently existing as composite parts of the Red Lake, Turtle Mountain, White Earth Bands, and the Dakota Tribes of Minnesota and North Dakota. We acknowledge the people who resided here for generations and recognize that the spirit of the Ojibwe and Oyate people permeates this land. As a university community, we will continue to build upon our relations with the First Nations of the State of North Dakota - the Mandan, Hidatsa, and Arikara Nation, Sisseton-Wahpeton Oyate Nation, Spirit Lake Nation, Standing Rock Sioux Tribe, and Turtle Mountain Band of Chippewa.



Group photo of the online BSSW cohort during their campus visit June 2019.

Catalog Content Non-Binding, Subject-To-Change Statement:

Catalogs and bulletins of educational institutions are usually prepared by faculty committees or administrative officers for the purpose of furnishing prospective students and other interested persons with information about their institution. Information contained in such printed material is subject to change without notice, and it is not to be interpreted as creating a binding obligation on the institution and the State. In times of changing conditions, it is especially necessary to have this understood (University of North Dakota Undergraduate and Graduate Academic Catalog, http://und-public.courseleaf.com/notices/)

Table of Contents

Welcome Letter from the Department Chair	3
A Note from UND's BSSW Program Director	6
About the Profession	
History of the Department	
UND's Bachelor of Science in Social Work (BSSW) Program	
Mission Statements	8
UND Mission Statement	8
College of Nursing and Professional Development Mission Statement	8
Social Work Department Mission Statement	8
BSSW Program Mission Statement	8
BSSW Program Goals	9
Undergraduate Program (The Primary Focus of this Handbook)	9
Student Lounge and Computer Lab	12
Library other UND Resources Error! Book	kmark not defined
BSSW Program, Accreditation Competencies and Behaviors	15
Accreditation	15
Admission to the Program	kmark not defined
Progression through the Program	20
Curriculum	21
Second Degree Program	22
Minors	22
Course Descriptions	25
Standards for Social Work Education	28
Declaring a Pre-Social Work Major	28
Advising	28
Changing Advisors	28
BSSW Program Agreement Form	29
Transfer Credits	29
Social Work Program Leave of Absence	29
Academic Grievance Procedure within the BSSW Program	31
Student Rights and Responsibilities	36

Policies and Procedures for Review of Academic Performance	38
Gatekeeping Policy: Concerns Regarding Student Performance	40
Academic Grievances—Student Opportunity to Address Concerns	423
Student Participation on Department Committees	478
Licensure Information	478
Appendix I	4950
Appendix II	50
Appendix III	51
Appendix IV	54

A Note from the Chair of UND's Social Work Department

Welcome to the University of North Dakota's Department of Social Work!

Whether you are reading this as someone already familiar with the social work profession, or someone exploring and just developing your awareness of this calling, please know that this is arguably the most important profession for those who want to address social justice issues and make the world a better place for individuals and our global society.

Social work's Code of Ethics, its unique values, and our licensing requirements provide a moral compass to engage the work of improving the well-being of people everywhere, and especially those who are disadvantaged and oppressed. Our profession scans a breadth of practice areas as varied as child welfare, work with the elderly, urban planning and community organizing, mental health supports, addictions counseling, research and education, and more. It also engages across levels of practice including work with individuals, families, organizations, communities, and even local, national, and international policy systems. A social work degree opens doors to an amazing cornucopia of workplaces and styles, all under the banner of a shared career. We engage a broad variety of practice areas and levels, but we have a shared approach that unites us as social workers.

The University of North Dakota offers both BSSW (Bachelors of Science in Social Work) and MSW (Masters of Social Work) degrees. With each degree level, we have both on campus classes and robust distance programs serving students across the United States, Canada, and beyond! As the main MSW program between Minneapolis and Spokane Washington, our emphasis is on rural and First Nation's communities.

This Department Handbook offers a general overview of the department's mission, policies, and organization. There are separate handbooks with information specific to the BSSW and MSW programs. There are also handbooks related to our Field Education program, which connects to the applied learning experience that is the capstone for all social work degrees. I hope to have the opportunity to meet you in person sometime soon, and to then get to work and learn with you as a social work student at the University of North Dakota. Then, before you know it, we will be colleagues joining the exciting work of seeking to improve the lives and communities of people down the street and around the world!

Bret A. Weber, PhD, MSW he/him/his
Chair of the Social Work Department, Professor, University of North Dakota Gillette Hall, Rm 2-E 225 Centennial Drive, Stop 7135
Grand Forks, ND 58202-7135 701 777-3767

A Note from UND's BSSW Program Director

Welcome to the Department of Social Work! Social work has been described as both a "calling" and a "profession." Graduates earn a Bachelor of Science in Social Work.

The Department is committed to realizing our mission to provide students with knowledge, values, and skills for practice. Completion of our bachelor's degree provides eligibility for licensure as well as provides you with the credential for admission to Master of Social Work Programs accredited by the Council on Social Work Education. The BSSW Program has a history dating back to 1905 when social work courses were first offered at the University of North Dakota and the BSW degree was formally being offered in 1939. The program has been accredited by the Council on Social Work Education since 1974, when undergraduate accreditation first began. Our Department offers an innovative Second-Degree Program for those who have completed a bachelor's degree in another field and want to pursue the social worker degree and professional licensure.

Social work is a versatile professional degree and provides a diverse range of exciting career opportunities. Social workers are employed in various settings (hospitals, schools, child welfare agencies, homeless shelters, battered women's centers, and more) where they work on a variety of issues (advocacy, crisis intervention, school safety, sexual assault, end of life care, poverty and social inequality, and more). Social workers also help change policy, lead non-profit agencies and administer programs (NASW).

We have prepared this Bachelor of Science in Social Work Handbook to provide you with information about admission and academic requirements. Additionally, there resources such as the UND Code of Student Life and the Undergraduate Academic Catalog. Our faculty and staff are committed to helping you achieve your educational goals. Please contact Lani Moen, BSSW Academic Advisor, to schedule an informational meeting to learn more about earning a social work degree.

Best wishes,

Barbara A. Kitko, MSW, LBSW she/her/hers BSSW Program Director – Assistant Professor Gillette Hall, Rm 105B - 225 Centennial Drive, Stop 7135 Grand Forks, ND 58202-7135 701 777-3765

General Introduction to UND's Social Work Undergraduate Program

About the Profession

What is Social Work Practice?

Social work practice consists of the professional application of social work values, principles, and techniques to one or more of the following ends: helping people obtain tangible services; counseling and psychotherapy with individuals, families, and groups; helping communities or groups provide or improve social and health services; and participating in legislative processes. The practice of social work requires knowledge of human development and behavior; of social and economic, and cultural institutions; and of the interaction of all these factors. (NASW Standards for Classification of Social Work Policy Statement).

Opportunities for Social Work Practice:

A social worker may find career opportunities in any one of a number of human service areas. These may include positions in: child welfare and family services, aging services, probation and parole, mental health clinics and outreach centers, hospitals, rehabilitation programs, community action agencies, youth programs, adoption agencies, and business and industry. In addition, social workers participate in community planning, social action and legislative advocacy, and promote healthy communities.

History of the Department

The BSSW Program has a history dating back to 1905 when social work courses were first offered at the University of North Dakota and the BSW degree was formally offered in 1939. The program has been accredited by the Council on Social Work Education since 1974, when undergraduate accreditation first began. An online BSSW program was first offered in 2016.

The advanced generalist MSW Program at UND has been fully accredited by the Council on Social Work Education since 1998. In 2005, the Department of Social Work, a long-time pioneer in delivering social work education to distance students throughout the state, launched an innovative distance program using videoconferencing technology to better serve the state, region, and practitioners serving rural and highly vulnerable populations. This award-winning program was the first in the nation to launch MSW foundation education using technology, and it has served as a model for others.

UND's Bachelor of Science in Social Work (BSSW) Program

The Bachelor of Science in Social Work (BSSW) Program at the University of North Dakota is housed within the College of Nursing and Professional Development and is accredited by the Council on Social Work Education. The Council on Social Work Education (2002) states, "The purposes of social work education are to prepare competent and effective professionals, to develop social work knowledge, and to provide leadership in the development of service delivery systems. Social work education is grounded in the profession's history, purposes, and philosophy and is based on a body of knowledge, values, and skills. Social work education enables students to integrate the knowledge, values, and skills of the social work profession for competent practice."

Mission Statements

UND Mission Statement

https://und.edu/about/strategic-plan/mission.html

Our mission is to provide transformative learning, discovery, and community engagement opportunities for developing tomorrow's leaders.

Community

A spirit of collaboration and connectedness across the University and beyond

Discovery

An enthusiasm for inquiry, creativity, and innovation

Diversity

An understanding and appreciation of diverse people, experiences, and ideas

Inclusivity

A welcoming, inclusive, and supportive environment for all

Liberal Arts

An educational foundation essential for living an intellectually curious, personally fulfilling, and socially responsible life

Lifelong Learning

A passion for learning, civic engagement, and community leadership

College of Nursing and Professional Development Mission Statement https://cnpd.und.edu/about-cnpd.html

The mission of the College of Nursing & Professional Disciplines is to prepare future leaders, to advance human well-being and improve quality of life for diverse populations, with an emphasis on rural communities in North Dakota, the region, and beyond, through the provision of high-quality innovative interprofessional education, research, and service.

Social Work Department Mission Statement

Through its teaching, scholarship and service, the University of North Dakota Social Work Department advances social, economic and environmental justice, and enhances human well-being and quality of life within the state, region, and beyond.

BSSW Program Mission Statement

The University of North Dakota's Bachelor of Social Work Program provides accessible, affordable, and high-quality undergraduate education that engages students in scholarly inquiry, preparing them for more advanced studies and for generalist practice with individuals, families, groups, organizations, and communities both locally and globally. Rooted in scientific inquiry, the liberal arts, the person-in-environment framework, and the strengths perspective, UND's BSSW Program prepares students to serve ethically and competently as effective and adaptive leaders in their communities as they strive to enhance the quality of life for all persons; to promote human rights, social, economic and environmental justice; to honor human diversity; to eliminate poverty and the mechanisms of discrimination and oppression; and to uphold the dignity and worth of all persons.



BSSW Program Goals

- 1. To increase access to a high-quality educational experience for BSSW-level Social Work students in our state, region and beyond.
- 2. To prepare BSSW-level practitioners who understand, communicate, apply and uphold the values, ethical principles, and purpose of the Social Work profession.
- 3. To prepare BSSW-level practitioners with the requisite knowledge, values, and skills to pursue more advanced studies and to practice competently at the generalist level across systems levels and practice settings.
- 4. To prepare BSSW-level practitioners who are able to critically analyze and integrate the profession's person-in-environment framework with strengths-based approaches that focus on empowerment and asset-building at all levels of practice.
- 5. To prepare BSSW-level practitioners who can apply research-based knowledge to practice, use research methods as tools for developing new knowledge, and evaluate and improve outcomes across levels of practice.
- 6. To prepare BSSW-level practitioners who understand the dynamics of difference, diversity, intersectionality and privilege in their work, and who are committed to nondiscriminatory and respectful professional practice in a diverse society.
- 7. To prepare BSSW-level practitioners who promote human rights, who advocate for economic, social and environmental justice, and who work to eliminate poverty, oppression and marginalization.
- 8. To prepare BSSW-level practitioners who can interpret the history of the social work profession and its contemporary structures and issues sufficiently to analyze, formulate, and influence social policy in contemporary society.
- 9. To prepare versatile BSSW-level practitioners who are able to serve as effective and adaptive leaders across a variety of practice settings and contexts, including rural and Tribal communities.
- 10. To instill in BSSW students a passion for lifelong learning that they will carry into practice.

Programs Offered by UND's Department of Social Work

Undergraduate Program (The Primary Focus of this Handbook)

BSSW (Bachelor of Science of Social Work) On-Campus and Online Programs

For those completing their first bachelor's degree and wanting to earn their BSSW, we have both a campus program, and an online program.

For those who already have a bachelor's degree in a related field and wanting to secure a bachelor's degree in Social Work can complete our SECOND-DEGREE PROGRAM. The Second-Degree Program allows a student to secure a BSSW in as little as one year on the

UND campus. Second-Degree students must fulfill essential studies requirements or have the equivalent to graduate with a BSSW degree from UND.

BSSW Minors

The department offers the following two minors: Gerontology and Chemical Dependency. Students may also choose a minor outside the College of Nursing and Professional Disciplines and the Department of Social Work. The student should consult with the respective college and department for course requirements for their chosen minor. To declare your minor, consult with the college that is offering the minor.

Master's Program (For information see the separate MSW Handbook)

Link to program handbooks: https://cnpd.und.edu/student-resources/student-handbooks.html

Field Education (For information see the separate Field Handbook)

All students (BSSW, Foundation, and MSW) are required to complete a field internship which is an integral component of the social work program. Internships occur at the end of the curriculum coursework and serve as the capstone to the students' education. The Field Education program consists of both time spent in the field agency (450 hours for BSSW) as well as Field Seminar courses where students have the opportunity to process their learning experience, along with additional learning opportunities with a focus on social work ethics.

BSSW Scholarships and Stipends

The University of North Dakota has several sources of financial aid available for qualified students including scholarships, loans, grants, and employment opportunities. For further information regarding financial assistance, contact One-Stop Student Services (https://und.edu/one-stop/index.html).

Sandi Curry Christofferson Memorial Scholarship

Allocations from the endowment will provide scholarships for juniors or seniors admitted to the Social Work Program within the College of Nursing and Professional Disciplines who have expressed interest in children's mental health with a preference for infant mental health and a minimum GPA of 3.0.

Kris and Michael Compton Social Work Scholarship

Allocations from this endowment will provide one or more scholarships to an undergraduate student within the College of Nursing and Professional Disciplines pursuing an undergraduate degree in Social Work.

Henriette Lund Scholarship

This scholarship was created to honor the memory of Henriette Lund. Ms. Lund was one of the first professionally trained social workers to practice in North Dakota. She was instrumental in the formation of the North Dakota Conference of Social Work in 1920 which addressed child welfare needs of that day and led to the establishment of the state's Children's Code Commission. Ms. Lund held a series of positions in national and international social work before her death in 1984, at the age of 94.

This scholarship is awarded to an admitted undergraduate senior student who has a high-grade point average, high promise as a social work professional, and has demonstrated participation in the advancement of the profession.

Myrna Haga Community Service Scholarship

Dr. Myrna Haga retired from UND in 2011 as a 40-year veteran social work educator and beloved faculty member. She was especially devoted to undergraduate social work education.

Allocations from this endowment will provide one scholarship for a junior student majoring in Social Work at the University of North Dakota who demonstrates financial need and who is carrying at least a 3.0 grade point average. Preference is given to students who show active involvement in the community.

North Dakota Conference of Social Welfare Scholarship

North Dakota Conference of Social Welfare (NDCSW) will award a \$500 scholarship to an undergraduate senior social work student that shows an interest in social welfare reform, advocating for the underprivileged, and being a leader in social welfare issues. Application must include an essay of 1000 words or less about their interest in the three areas listed above, why you would like to be a member of the NDCSW, what benefits there are to membership in the NDCSW, what committee you would like to serve on, and how you would like to become involved as a member of NDCSW. For application information you can access the NDCSW website at www.ndcsw.org. There is an expectation that you will attend the fall conference in Minot in late September to receive the award.

Title IV-E Child Welfare Stipend

The purpose of the IV-E Child Welfare Stipend is to enhance the child welfare workforce in the state of North Dakota. The University of North Dakota, Department of Social Work collaborates with North Dakota Department of Human Services, Division of Child and Family Services, to enhance and increase the child welfare workforce. Through the University of North Dakota, education stipends are provided each semester to University of North Dakota social work students who agree to intern in a child welfare setting and seek employment in a child welfare setting. Contact Stephanie Homstad (stephanie.homstad@und.edu) for more information.

Student Organizations & Resources

Student organizations at the UND Department of Social Work include Phi Alpha, the Student Social Work Association, and the National Association of Social Workers (NASW).

Phi Alpha

Phi Alpha, the National Social Work Honorary Society, aims to provide recognition for scholastic achievement of individual students, promote interest in social work as a profession, and encourage fellowship among those training for this profession. Phi Alpha encourages student scholarship, good citizenship, and the practice of high ethical standards. Graduate student members of Phi Alpha are nominated twice per year. Eligibility for membership for graduate students includes a 3.0 grade point average, completion of 55 credit hours, and faculty endorsement.



Student Social Work Association

A member of the National Federation of Student Social Workers, the Student Social Work Association aims to promote interest in social work as a profession and encourage fellowship among social work students. The association is open to all prospective social work majors and students admitted to the BSSW and MSW Programs.

National Association of Social Workers

The National Association of Social Workers (NASW) is an organization comprised of professional and student social workers who have united on local and national levels to increase their impact on today's major social problems. NASW attempts to enhance social work practice, improve professional standards and salary levels, and promote societal improvements important to social workers and their clients.

Students are offered membership at reduced fees. The benefits of NASW membership include a free subscription to the bimonthly Social Work Journal and the monthly NASW NEWS. NASW also offers low-cost health, life, and liability insurance coverage, low-cost travel service, and reduced rates for membership in the Social Work Vocational Bureau, a central employment reference service.

Student Lounge and Computer Lab

The Department of Social Work is located in Gillette Hall, there is a student lounge located in Room #103. This comfortable space is available for students to use.

The computer lab is in Room #1 of Gillette Hall and is open from 8:00 AM to 4:30 PM Monday through Friday.

Libraries and Other UND Resources

The BSSW and MSW Program is provided instruction, research assistance, and access to medical and health sciences information from the School of Medicine and Health Science's

Library. In addition, there are two other campus libraries with topic specific resources: Chester Fritz Library and the Olaf H. Thormodsgard Law Library. Please contact the Social Work subject librarian for assistance: https://med.und.edu/library/.

Educational and Social Resources

. Students Affairs & Diversity Office (http://und.edu/student-affairs/dean-of-students)

McCannel Hall, Room 280 (701-777-2664)

Includes: Multicultural Student Services

- Admissions (http://und.edu/admissions/undergraduate)
- Dakota Student (http://dakotastudent.com)
- Memorial Union (http://und.edu/student-life/union)
- One-Stop Student Services (https://und.edu/one-stop/index.html)

Includes: Financial Aid, Tuition & Fees

- Residence Services (http://und.edu/student-life/housing)
- Student Health Services (https://und.edu/student-life/student-health)
- Student Success Center (https://und.edu/academics/services/index.html)
- TRIO Programs (http://und.edu/student-life/trio)
- Veteran and Military Services (https://und.edu/student-life/military)
- Wellness Center (https://und.edu/student-life/wellness-center)

A. Counseling Center (https://und.edu/student-life/counseling-center) McCannel Hall, Room 200 (701-777-2127)

- Counseling
- Group Counseling/Couples Counseling
- Career Counseling
- Substance Abuse Prevention
- Crisis Services
- Testing
- Professional Training
- Outreach/Workshops

B. Career Services (https://und.edu/student-life/career-services) Twamley Hall, Room 103 (701-777-3904)

- Career Exploration
- Career Fairs
- Cover Letter/Resume Writing
- Job Search Techniques
- Interviewing/Networking
- Internships/Co-op Education

C. Disability Services for Students (https://und.edu/student-life/disability-services) McCannel Hall, Room 280 (701-777-3425 Voice or TDD)

- Access
- Accommodations
- Career Development
- Financing your Education
- Legal Aspects of Disability
- Tutoring
- D. Writing Center Services (https://und.edu/academics/writing-center/)
 Chester Fritz Library Room 321 (701-7772795)
- Class Assignments
- Resumes and CVs
- Job/school/scholarship application essays
- Graduate theses and doctoral dissertations
- Creative writing projects

E. Other

- University of North Dakota Indian Association (UNDIA) (https://www1.und.edu/orgs/indian-association/index.cfm)
- International Center (https://und.edu/academics/international-center/index.html) Includes: Study Abroad

Links of Importance

Department of Social Work https://cnpd.und.edu/social-work

University of North Dakota Code of Student Life https://und.edu/student-life/code-of-student-life.html

University of North Dakota Academic Catalog http://und.edu/academics/registrar/catalog-current.cfm

University of North Dakota Office of the Registrar https://und.edu/academics/registrar/

National Association of Social Workers www.socialworkers.org

ASWB Licensure information https://www.aswb.org/

Chapter 1: Bachelor of Science in Social Work Program

BSSW Program, Accreditation Competencies and Behaviors

Accreditation

The Council on Social Work Education (CSWE) sets social work education standards. The University of North Dakota's undergraduate social work program is approved and accredited by the Council on Social Work Education (CSWE). Upon graduation, students will be awarded a Bachelor of Science in Social Work (BSSW) degree, which will make them eligible to apply to and sit for the social work licensing examination in all states that license at the BSSW level.

More specifically, the Council on Social Work Education (2015) states:

Accreditation is a system for recognizing educational institutions and professional programs affiliated with those institutions as having a level of performance, integrity, and quality that entitles them to the confidence of the educational community and the public they serve. The Commission on Accreditation (COA) of the Council on Social Work Education (CSWE) is recognized by the Council for Higher Education Authority to accredit baccalaureate and master's degree programs in social work education in the United States and its territories. The COA is responsible for formulating, promulgating, and implementing the accreditation standards for baccalaureate and master's degree programs in social work, for ensuring the standards define competent preparation, and for confirming that accredited social work programs meet the standards. To this end, CSWE's COA administers a multistep accreditation process that involves program self-studies and benchmarks, site visits, and COA reviews.

The University of North Dakota's BSSW Program follows CSWE's Educational Policy and Accreditation Standards (EPAS). Each of the nine competencies listed below describe the knowledge, values, skills, and cognitive and affective processes that comprise the competency at the generalist level of practice, including a set of behaviors that integrate these components. These behaviors represent observable components of the competencies, while the preceding statements represent the underlying content and processes that inform the behaviors. (2015 Educational Policy and Accreditation Standards)

Competency 1: Demonstrate Ethical and Professional Behavior

Social workers understand the value base of the profession and its ethical standards, as well as relevant laws and regulations that may impact practice at the micro, mezzo, and macro levels. Social workers understand frameworks of ethical decision-making and how to apply principles of critical thinking to those frameworks in practice, research, and policy arenas. Social workers recognize personal values and the distinction between personal and professional values. They also understand how their personal experiences and affective reactions influence their professional judgment and behavior. Social workers understand the profession's history, its mission, and the roles and responsibilities of the profession. Social Workers also understand the role of other professions when engaged in inter-

professional teams. Social workers recognize the importance of life-long learning and are committed to continually updating their skills to ensure they are relevant and effective. Social workers also understand emerging forms of technology and the ethical use of technology in social work practice. Social workers:

- make ethical decisions by applying the standards of the NASW Code of Ethics, relevant laws and regulations, models for ethical decision-making, ethical conduct of research, and additional codes of ethics as appropriate to context;
- use reflection and self-regulation to manage personal values and maintain professionalism in practice situations;
- demonstrate professional demeanor in behavior; appearance; and oral, written, and electronic communication;
- use technology ethically and appropriately to facilitate practice outcomes; and
- use supervision and consultation to guide professional judgment and behavior.

Competency 2: Engage Diversity and Difference in Practice

Social workers understand how diversity and difference characterize and shape the human experience and are critical to the formation of identity. The dimensions of diversity are understood as the intersectionality of multiple factors including but not limited to age, class, color, culture, disability and ability, ethnicity, gender, gender identity and expression, immigration status, marital status, political ideology, race, religion/spirituality, sex, sexual orientation, and tribal sovereign status. Social workers understand that, as a consequence of difference, a person's life experiences may include oppression, poverty, marginalization, and alienation as well as privilege, power, and acclaim. Social workers also understand the forms and mechanisms of oppression and discrimination and recognize the extent to which a culture's structures and values, including social, economic, political, and cultural exclusions, may oppress, marginalize, alienate, or create privilege and power. Social workers:

- apply and communicate understanding of the importance of diversity and difference in shaping life experiences in practice at the micro, mezzo, and macro levels;
- present themselves as learners and engage clients and constituencies as experts of their own experiences; and
- apply self-awareness and self-regulation to manage the influence of personal biases and values in working with diverse clients and constituencies.

Competency 3: Advance Human Rights and Social, Economic, and Environmental Justice

Social workers understand that every person regardless of position in society has fundamental human rights such as freedom, safety, privacy, an adequate standard of living, health care, and education. Social workers understand the global interconnections of oppression and human rights violations, and are knowledgeable about theories of human need and social justice and strategies to promote social and economic justice and human rights. Social workers understand strategies designed to eliminate oppressive structural

barriers to ensure that social goods, rights, and responsibilities are distributed equitably and that civil, political, environmental, economic, social, and cultural human rights are protected. Social workers:

- apply their understanding of social, economic, and environmental justice to advocate for human rights at the individual and system levels; and
- engage in practices that advance social, economic, and environmental justice.

Competency 4: Engage In Practice-informed Research and Research-informed Practice

Social workers understand quantitative and qualitative research methods and their respective roles in advancing a science of social work and in evaluating their practice. Social workers know the principles of logic, scientific inquiry, and culturally informed and ethical approaches to building knowledge. Social workers understand that evidence that informs practice derives from multi-disciplinary sources and multiple ways of knowing. They also understand the processes for translating research findings into effective practice. Social workers:

- use practice experience and theory to inform scientific inquiry and research;
- apply critical thinking to engage in analysis of quantitative and qualitative research methods and research findings; and
- use and translate research evidence to inform and improve practice, policy, and service delivery.

Competency 5: Engage in Policy Practice

Social workers understand that human rights and social justice, as well as social welfare and services, are mediated by policy and its implementation at the federal, state, and local levels. Social workers understand the history and current structures of social policies and services, the role of policy in service delivery, and the role of practice in policy development. Social workers understand their role in policy development and implementation within their practice settings at the micro, mezzo, and macro levels and they actively engage in policy practice to effect change within those settings. Social workers recognize and understand the historical, social, cultural, economic, organizational, environmental, and global influences that affect social policy. They are also knowledgeable about policy formulation, analysis, implementation, and evaluation. Social workers:

- Identify social policy at the local, state, and federal level that impacts well-being, service delivery, and access to social services;
- assess how social welfare and economic policies impact the delivery of and access to social services;
- apply critical thinking to analyze, formulate, and advocate for policies that advance human rights and social, economic, and environmental justice.

Competency 6: Engage with Individuals, Families, Groups, Organizations, and Communities

Social workers understand that engagement is an ongoing component of the dynamic and interactive process of social work practice

with, and on behalf of, diverse individuals, families, groups, organizations, and communities. Social workers value the importance of human relationships. Social workers understand theories of human behavior and the social environment, and critically evaluate and apply this knowledge to facilitate engagement with clients and constituencies, including individuals, families, groups, organizations,

and communities. Social workers understand strategies to engage diverse clients and constituencies to advance practice effectiveness. Social workers understand how their personal experiences and affective reactions may impact their ability to effectively engage with diverse clients and constituencies. Social workers value principles of relationship-building and inter-professional collaboration to facilitate engagement with clients, constituencies, and other professionals as appropriate. Social workers:

- apply knowledge of human behavior and the social environment, person-inenvironment, and other multidisciplinary theoretical frameworks to engage with clients and constituencies; and
- use empathy, reflection, and interpersonal skills to effectively engage diverse clients and constituencies.

Competency 7: Assess Individuals, Families, Groups, Organizations, and Communities

Social workers understand that assessment is an ongoing component of the dynamic and interactive process of social work practice with, and on behalf of, diverse individuals, families, groups, organizations, and communities. Social workers understand theories of human behavior and the social environment, and critically evaluate and apply this knowledge in the assessment of diverse clients and constituencies, including individuals, families, groups, organizations, and communities. Social workers understand methods of assessment with diverse clients and constituencies to advance practice effectiveness.

Social workers recognize the implications of the larger practice context in the assessment process and value the importance of inter-professional collaboration in this process. Social workers understand how their personal experiences and affective reactions may affect their assessment and decision-making. Social workers:

- collect and organize data, and apply critical thinking to interpret information from clients and constituencies;
- apply knowledge of human behavior and the social environment, person-inenvironment, and other multidisciplinary theoretical frameworks in the analysis of assessment data from clients and constituencies;
- develop mutually agreed-on intervention goals and objectives based on the critical assessment of strengths, needs, and challenges within clients and constituencies; and
- select appropriate intervention strategies based on the assessment, research knowledge, and values and preferences of clients and constituencies.

Competency 8: Intervene with Individuals, Families, Groups, Organizations, and Communities

Social workers understand that intervention is an ongoing component of the dynamic and interactive process of social work practice with, and on behalf of, diverse individuals, families, groups, organizations, and communities. Social workers are knowledgeable about evidence-informed interventions to achieve the goals of clients and constituencies, including individuals, families, groups, organizations, and communities. Social workers understand theories of human behavior and the social environment, and critically evaluate and apply this knowledge to effectively intervene with clients and constituencies. Social workers understand methods of identifying, analyzing and implementing evidence-informed interventions to achieve client and constituency goals. Social workers value the importance of inter-professional teamwork and communication in interventions, recognizing that beneficial outcomes may require interdisciplinary, inter-professional, and inter-organizational collaboration. Social workers:

- critically choose and implement interventions to achieve practice goals and enhance capacities of clients and constituencies;
- apply knowledge of human behavior and the social environment, person-inenvironment, and other multidisciplinary theoretical frameworks in interventions with clients and constituencies;
- use inter-professional collaboration as appropriate to achieve beneficial practice outcomes;
- negotiate, mediate, and advocate with and on behalf of diverse clients and constituencies; and
- facilitate effective transitions and endings that advance mutually agreed-on goals.

Competency 9: Evaluate Practice with Individuals, Families, Groups, Organizations, and Communities

Social workers understand that evaluation is an ongoing component of the dynamic and interactive process of social work practice with, and on behalf of, diverse individuals, families, groups, organizations and communities. Social workers recognize the importance of evaluating processes and outcomes to advance practice, policy, and service delivery effectiveness. Social workers understand theories of human behavior and the social environment, and critically evaluate and apply this knowledge in evaluating outcomes. Social workers understand qualitative and quantitative methods for evaluating outcomes and practice effectiveness. Social workers:

- select and use appropriate methods for evaluation of outcomes;
- apply knowledge of human behavior and the social environment, person-inenvironment, and other multidisciplinary theoretical frameworks in the evaluation of outcomes;
- critically analyze, monitor, and evaluate intervention and program processes and outcomes; and
- apply evaluation findings to improve practice effectiveness at the micro, mezzo, and macro levels.

Chapter 2: BSSW Academic Information

Admission to the Program

Criteria for Admission

- 1. Completion of SWK 255 Introduction to Social Work and SWK 257 Human Behavior and the Social Environment I
- 2. Grade of C or higher in SWK 255 and SWK 257
- 3. Overall GPA of at least 2.75 (includes all transfer work).
- 4. Willingness to adhere to the National Association of Social Workers (NASW) Code of Ethics and the UND Code of Student Life.
- 5. Completion of 45 semester hours of coursework at the end of the term in which the application is submitted.

BSSW Program application deadlines
Fall admission: March 15 th or June 15 th
Spring admission: Oct. 15 th

To apply for admission to the program, students complete the online application, available on the department's website.

https://und.edu/programs/social-work-bssw/index.html

The application process is competitive. All factors including grade point average, strength of written materials, and volunteer/work experience will be given consideration in admissions decisions. Students are notified of the decision regarding admission via email. Following admissions, students are required to sign the BSSW Program Agreement Form upon reviewing it with a staff or faculty member during the BSSW Program Orientation.

Provisional admission may be considered when a student is not meeting the minimum admission criteria or the BSSW Committee has a concern with the student's academic performance. Students admitted provisionally are required to obtain a 3.00 GPA in all social work courses during their first semester of the program, and to meet with their faculty advisor at least 3 times per semester. Failure to do so could result in dismissal from the program.

Progression through the Program

After admission to the social work program, a student must maintain an overall GPA of 2.75, and a GPA of 2.75 in all social work courses. Students must attain a C or better in social work courses. Transfer credit for courses follows university and Council on Social Work Education (CSWE) requirements. All transfer social work courses must be from an accredited BSSW Program. There may be exceptions to this if articulation agreements are in place. No credit is given for life or previous work experience. Students must complete the required social work courses (39 credit hours).

Curriculum

Core Social Work Courses	Credits
SWK 255 Introduction to Social Work	4
SWK 257 Human Behavior in the Social Environment I	3
Admission to BSSW Program required	
SWK 317 Social Work Research	3
SWK 357 Human Behavior in the Social Environment II	3
SWK 424 Generalist Social Work Practice with Individuals and Families	3
SWK 434 Generalist Social Work Practice with Task and Treatment Groups	3
SWK 442 Social Policy	3
SWK 454 Generalist Social Work Practice with Communities and Organizations	3
SWK Elective	2
SWK 481 Field Education I	5
SWK 482 Field Education Seminar I	1
SWK 483 Field Education II	5
SWK 484 Field Education Seminar II	1

Additional Program Requirements	Credits
PSYC 111 Intro to Psychology	3
SOC 110 Intro to Sociology	3
POLS 115 American Government	3
Advanced Social Sciences (200-level or above)	15
Global or US Diversity	6
Statistics course	3

Social Work Electives	Credits
SWK 311 Child Welfare	3
SWK 313 Orientation to Gerontology	3
SWK 315 Substance Use and Abuse	2
SWK 316 Interprofessional Healthcare	1
SWK 318 Mental Health	2
SWK 493 Special Topics	1-3

- All students are required to fulfill UND's <u>Essential Studies</u> requirements and credit requirements for graduation
- Only students admitted to the Online BSSW Program will have access to enroll in online social work course. Campus BSSW students can request permission from the BSSW Program Director to enroll in an online social work course if there are extenuating circumstances.

For more detailed information and degree plans visit our website: https://cnpd.und.edu/social-work/bssw.html

Second Degree Program

The student who has satisfactorily completed a bachelor's degree in a related field from an accredited institution and wishes to obtain a bachelor's degree in Social Work can complete the Second Degree Program. This program allows a student to acquire a BSSW in as little as three semesters. Second Degree students are required to complete the 39 social work credits and any unfulfilled Essential Studies requirements.

A statistics course is not required for Second Degree students but is often required for admission to an MSW Program. It is recommended that Second Degree students complete a statistics course if they intend to apply to an MSW Program.

Minors

The department offers the following two minors: Gerontology and Chemical Dependency. Students may also choose a minor outside the College of Nursing and Professional Disciplines and the Department of Social Work. The student should consult with the respective college and department for course requirements for their chosen minor. To declare your minor, consult with the college that is offering the minor.

Gerontology Minor

The Interdisciplinary minor in gerontology enhances professionals' capacity to work with the older person. It requires three courses in three disciplines. Students select another 9 credits to earn 18 credits in coursework related to gerontology.

Required	Title	Credits
SWK 313	Gerontology	3
PSYC 355	Adulthood and Aging	3
SOC 352	Aging	3
Select three of the		
following:		
PHIL 120	Introduction to Ethics	3
IS 121	Introduction to Indian Studies	3
NUTR 240	Fundamentals of Nutrition	3
PSYC 331	Behavior Modification and Therapy	3
PSYC 421	Diversity Psychology	3
PHIL 245	Death and Dying	3
SOC 354	Medical Sociology	3
SWK 257	Human Behavior in the Social Environment I	3
RHS 350	Overview of Disabilities	3
Total Credits		18

With current approval of the student advisor and the minor coordinator up to three credit hours of departmental tutorial readings, special topics and/or research studies may be included. For more information on the Gerontology Minor, contact the Gerontology Minor coordinator, Ken Flanagan (Kenneth.flanagan@und.edu).

Chemical Dependency Minor

Required	Title	Credits
PPT 410	Drugs Subject to Abuse *	2
PPT 499	Readings in Pharmacology, Physiology and Therapeutics*	1
SOC 355	Drugs and Society *	3
SWK 315	Substance Use and Abuse *	2
Select four of the following ¹ :		12¹
COUN 250	Dialogue on U.S. Diversity *	3
COUN 529	Dynamics of Addiction *+	3
PSYC 360	Introduction to Personality *	3
PSYC 270	Abnormal Psychology *	3
	Generalist Social Work Practice with Task and Treatment	
SWK 434	Groups*	3
SOC 335	Families in a Changing Society *	3
PSYC 250	Developmental Psychology*	3
PHIL 120	Introduction to Ethics	3
IS 311	Health and American Indian Cultures	3
SOC 115	Social Problems	3
T&L 350	Development and Education of the Adolescent	3
	Developmental Perspectives on Adolescent Problem	
CJ 430	Behavior	3
Total Credits		20-29

^{*} Course required for licensing in addiction counseling in North Dakota and Minnesota.

Addiction Counselor Training Program

The Department of Social Work is designated as an Addiction Counselor Training Program by the North Dakota Board of Addiction Counseling Examiners. Students who complete required courses within the minor, meet the education requirements to apply for licensing in addiction counseling in the states of North Dakota and Minnesota, following the completion of a practicum in a certified addiction facility.

[†] Student must be senior status or graduate level to enroll in this course.

¹Total credits required for students may vary based on their current program of study.

Students must apply for admittance into a board approved Clinical Training Program. Applications are accepted once per year on February 1, and if admitted to this competitive program, the 960 hour practicum begins the following fall semester.

Students are admitted to this training on two levels. The first level includes social work majors who also complete the minor in Chemical Dependency (required courses for licensing in addiction counseling, or their equivalent) and the twenty-five-week practicum in the Clinical Training Program. Students must meet all requirements for a social work major in addition to the minor requirements and the addiction practicum requirement. This generally involves a five-year program of study. For more information regarding this program, please contact Isaac Karikari (isaac.karikari@und.edu).

The second level relates to graduate students in Counseling who must meet the required graduate program of study, the required addiction courses, and 700 hours of practicum. For more complete details, please contact Isaac Karikari (<u>isaac.karikari@und.edu</u>) or the Department of Counseling.

Course Descriptions

- **255. Introduction to Social Work.** 4 credits. An introduction to the social work profession including: the development of the profession, generalist practice, the problem solving process, the strengths perspective, social work values and ethics, levels of practice (individual, family, group, community and organization), and fields of practice; 40 hours of volunteer experience. F, S, SS
- **257. Human Behavior and the Social Environment I.** 3 credits. Prerequisites or corequisites: Psyc 111 & Soc 110. Application of theories and knowledge from the liberal arts. Application of social work theory across the life span. An emphasis on social systems theory as the conceptual framework. Bio-psycho-socio-cultural aspects of human development. F, S, SS
- **311.** Child Welfare. 3 credits. Overview of the child welfare delivery system with emphasis on child protection services, juvenile court procedures, child care services, the rights of children, foster homes and adoption. S
- **313. Orientation to Gerontology.** 3 credits. Introduction to gerontology including an overview of the field of gerontology, theories of aging, interdisciplinary teaming, demographics, and programs. F
- **315. Substance Use and Abuse.** 2 credits. Prerequisite: Declared Chemical Dependency minor. Introduction to the dynamics of drug addiction and related issues, with special emphasis on alcohol. S
- **316.** Interprofessional Health Care. 1 credit. Prerequisite: Admission to the BSSW Program. Learning to work effectively with an interprofessional health and mental health care team using a shared patient-centered approach. F, S
- **317. Social Work Research.** 3 credits. Prerequisite: Admission to the BSSW Program and a prerequisite or co-requisite of statistics. Provides students with a generalist understanding of how basic qualitative and quantitative research methods along with qualitative and quantitative data analysis can be used to enhance social work practice. The course promotes critical thinking and the integration of ethical principles in order to promote research- informed practice and practice-informed research. F, S
- **318. Mental Health.** 2 credits. Prerequisite: Admission to the BSSW Program. Overview of the mental health service delivery system with a focus on case management skills. F
- **357. Human Behavior and the Social Environment II.** 3 credits. Prerequisite: Admission to the BSSW Program. Application of social work theory and research across the life span with social systems theory as the conceptual framework. Theories regarding development of groups, communities and organizations. F, S
- **397. Cooperative Education.** 1-2 credits. Prerequisite: consent of instructor.

Individually supervised experiences in a human service agency. Integrates social work theory with practice. Contact the Cooperative Education Office. F, S, SS

- **424.** Generalist Social Work Practice with Individuals and Families. 3 credits.

 Prerequisite: Admission to the BSSW Program. Generalist practice with individuals of the BSSW Program.
- Prerequisite: Admission to the BSSW Program. Generalist practice with individuals and families within the context of interventions. Develop skills to engage, assess, intervene, and evaluate social work practice with individuals and families. F, S, SS
- **434. Generalist Social Work Practice with Task and Treatment Groups.** 3 credits. Prerequisite: Admission to the BSSW Program. Prerequisite or corequisite: SWK 357. Generalist practice with task and treatment groups within the context of evidence-based interventions. Develop skills to engage, assess, plan, intervene, and evaluate social work practice with groups. F, S, SS
- **442. Social Policy.** 3 credits. Prerequisite: Admission to the BSSW Program. Prerequisites or corequisites: SWK 317 & SWK 357. Provides knowledge of social policy, and develops critical analysis skills to advance social and economic well-being and understanding of the interaction between research, practice and policy. F, S
- **454. Generalist Social Work Practice with Communities and Organizations.** 3 credits. Prerequisite: Admission to the BSSW Program. Prerequisite or corequisite: SWK 357. Generalist practice with organizations and communities within the context of evidence-based interventions. Develop skills to engage, assess, intervene, and evaluate social work practice with communities and organizations. F, S
- **481. Field Education I.** 5 credits. Prerequisite: Admission to Field Education. Corequisite: SWK 482. S/U grading only. Also can be taken with SWK 483 for a one-semester block internship in an approved social welfare agency. Provides learning opportunities in generalist social work practice using the problem solving processes within the strengths and ecological systems perspectives. Connect the theoretical and conceptual contributions of the classroom with the practical world of the practice setting. F, S, SS
- **482. Field Education Seminar I.** 1 credit. Corequisite: SWK 481. Integrates classroom content with actual practice. F, S, SS
- **483. Field Education II.** 5 credits. Prerequisite or corequisite: SWK 481. Corequisite: SWK 484. S/U grading only. Provides learning opportunities in generalist social work practice using the problem-solving process within the strengths and ecological systems perspectives. Connect the theoretical and conceptual contributions of the classroom with the practical world of the practice setting. F, S, SS
- **484. Field Education Seminar II.** 1 credit. Corequisite: SWK 483. F, S, SS
- **489. Senior Honors Thesis.** 1-3 credits, repeatable to a maximum 6 credits. Supervised independent study and culminating in a thesis. F, S

493A (**regular grading**) **493B** (**S-U grading**). **Special Topics.** 1-3 credits. Repeatable to a maximum 9 credits. Prerequisite: SWK 255 or consent of instructor. Individually or group supervised research or interdepartmental studies and seminars in social work-related areas. F, S, SS

Chapter 3: Policies and Procedures

Standards for Social Work Education

All social work students will be expected to read the Standards for Social Work Education, the *Code of Student Life* (http://und.edu/student-affairs/code-of-student-life/), and the NASW Code of Ethics (http://www.socialworkers.org/pubs/code/default.asp). Students will then be asked to sign an acknowledgment that they have read, are aware of the contents of, and will abide by the documents. The form will be kept in students' academic files.

See the <u>UND Undergraduate and Graduate Academic Catalog</u> for additional undergraduate information.

Declaring a Pre-Social Work Major

Student interested in applying for the BSSW Program can declare a Pre-Social Work major by completing Change of Major Request form online (https://und.edu/academics/services/advising/declare.html) or by contacting the BSSW Academic Advisor will serve as the student's academic advisor until the student has been formally admitted to the BSSW Program.

Advising

Students will be assigned to a social work faculty for advising once they are admitted to the Social Work Program. The purpose of advising is to assist students in academic planning for graduation, along with personal and professional development. Students are expected to set up a time to meet with their advisors each semester to discuss their academic progress and remove the advisor hold. Students admitted to the program provisionally are required to meet with their advisor at least 3 times per semester. Advisement appointments may occur in person, by email, phone or online. Students are ultimately responsible to see that all academic requirements are completed. For additional advisor and student responsibilities please see: https://und.edu/academics/services/advising/rights-responsibilities.html

Changing Advisors

If students request a change of advisor, they must complete the Change of Advisor form (see Appendix II). Students are required to speak with their current advisor regarding their request for a new advisor. A reasonable attempt should be made to resolve the issue or conflict. If a student does not feel comfortable talking to their advisor, they have the option of discussing the conflict with someone from the Social Work Administrative Team (BSSW Program Director, MSW Program Director, Department Chair, Field Program Director, or Distance Program Coordinator). The request will be submitted to the BSSW Program Director for review and final approval.

BSSW Program Agreement Form

Upon admission to the BSSW program, all students are required to sign the BSSW Program Agreement form, which outlines several requirements and expectations. The program agreement form is reviewed with students during the new student orientation and then signed electronically (https://powerforms.docusign.net/835010f7-4b5d-4156-b6b3-f4b652afd000?env=na3-eu1&acct=0b6b418b-b8d9-464a-afd1-2c657718f7b9).

Transfer Credits

All transfer students will be expected to fulfill UND's Essential Studies requirements. The UND Office of the Registrar evaluates and records transfer credit. All social work credits approved for transfer must have been offered by an accredited social work program. Students can submit a request to have transfer social work credits evaluated for equivalency by completing the online request form

The BSSW Program Director will review requests and determine equivalency, with consultation from lead course instructors to any core social work courses.

Social Work Program Leave of Absence

Students who have successfully completed at least one semester in the Department of Social Work may request a Leave of Absence (LOA) for a maximum of 18 months. Students must first meet with their academic faculty advisor and complete the "Leave of Absence" form:

 $\label{lem:control} $$ \frac{\text{(https://na3.docusign.net/Member/PowerFormSigning.aspx?PowerFormId=8695c685-7472-4954-a0aa-0836d63cd1d2\&env=na3\&acct=0b6b418b-b8d9-464a-afd1-2c657718f7b9\&v=2).}$

Academic Standing will be considered during the review process.

- If a student does not plan to register for a particular semester, the form for LOA must be submitted by the "Last Day to Add a Full-Term Course". If the need for an LOA occurs during the semester, the application for LOA should be made by the "Last Day to Drop a full-term Course or Withdraw from School". These dates may be found on UND's academic calendars (https://und.edu/one-stop/academic-calendar/).
- Students who have been granted an LOA from the Department of Social Work under the provisions of this policy may re-enter according to the terms of their LOA, subject to available space in required courses at the time of re-entry on a first come/first serve basis according to date of final signature. Students must complete the re-entry section

- on the "Leave of Absence" form. Students will meet with their advisor prior to submission of the form.
- Students who have been on a LOA from UND for at least one semester, are required to apply for readmission to UND. To apply for readmission, complete the readmission form found on the Registrar's Office website (https://und.edu/academics/registrar/readmission.html).
- Students may be dismissed from the BSSW program if the following situations occur:-
 - o student does not return to enroll in social work courses at the time designated on the LOA form and have not requested an extension in writing;
 - student who does not have an approved LOA who withdraws from all social work courses in which they are currently enrolled; or
 - o students who do not register in the next consecutive semester in which they would normally be enrolled
- Students who have been dismissed under the provisions of this policy and wish to reenter the BSSW program <u>must submit an application for re-admission</u> to the Department of Social Work. Such applications are subject to all required prerequisites and will be considered with the total applicant pool. To apply, visit https://und.edu/programs/social-work-bssw/how-to-apply.html
- University policy permits readmission of students to UND. However, re-admission to
 UND does not guarantee re-admission to the BSSW program. If a student uses this
 LOA form from Social Work in conjunction with UND's "Cancel/Withdrawal to Zero"
 form (https://und.edu/academics/registrar/cancel-withdraw.html), the Social Work
 Department will abide by any restrictions regarding re-admission as established by the
 university.
- Any consideration of special circumstance must be discussed with your advisor.

Academic Grievance Procedure within the BSSW Program

The following describe the Criteria for Evaluating Academic Performance, Policies, and Procedures for Review of Academic Performance and Academic Grievances. Standards for Social Work Education.

Much of this has been adapted from the University of Texas at Austin School of Social Work, and we acknowledge and appreciate their work.

https://socialwork.utexas.edu/student-resources/bsw/policies-and-procedures/

Introduction

This document sets out Standards for Social Work Education that apply to all students enrolled at the Department of Social Work at the University of North Dakota. This document has been adapted from material secured from the School of Social Work at the University of Texas at Austin and readapted.

Because of the nature of professional social work practice, the Department of Social Work has different expectations of students than do non-professional programs. The standards described in this document are related to academic and ethical issues and are linked to students' abilities to become effective social work professionals. These standards are provided so that students and faculty can be clear about expectations and procedures to address academic performance concerns. The ultimate goal of the Standards for Social Work Education is to help students have a successful experience in the Department of Social Work.

Since becoming a professional is a gradual process, not all criteria are expected to be met at all times. Persons who teach and supervise students, along with program Assistant/Associate Deans, will assess student academic performance and apply their professional judgment to determine if standards are being met during a student's educational career. Professional judgment is the capacity to assess a situation by applying the values and knowledge of the social work profession, combined with a professional's own experience and practice wisdom. It also represents the application of knowledge, values, and skills to making decisions in a helping process.

Criteria for Evaluating Academic Performance in the BSSW Program

To meet its responsibilities to provide quality professional education and to facilitate functioning in a broad variety of professional situations, the Department of Social Work evaluates the academic performance of its students in four general areas: Basic Abilities to Acquire Professional Skills; Mental and Emotional Abilities; Professional Performance Skills, and Scholastic Performance. Meeting the criteria for scholastic achievement is necessary but not sufficient to ensure continued enrollment in a program. Both professional behavior and scholastic performance comprise academic standards.

Basic Abilities Necessary to Acquire Professional Skills Communication Skills

Communication Skills

The student demonstrates sufficient written and oral skills to comprehend information and communicate ideas and feelings.

- a) Written: Writes clearly, uses correct grammar and spelling, and applies appropriate writing style, including American Psychological Association (APA) referencing, appropriate source citation, and documentation. Demonstrates sufficient skills in written English to understand content presented in the program and to complete adequately all written assignments, as specified by faculty.
- b) Oral: Communicates effectively and sensitively with other students, faculty, staff, clients, and professionals. Expresses ideas and feelings clearly and demonstrates a willingness and an ability to listen to others. Demonstrates skills in spoken English to understand content presented in the program, to complete adequately all oral assignments, and to meet the objectives of field internship experiences, as specified by faculty. The student must demonstrate communication competencies by such behaviors as using appropriate grammar, syntax, inflection, and vocabulary in spoken and written expression.

Interpersonal Skills

The student demonstrates the interpersonal skills needed to relate effectively to other students, faculty, staff, clients, and professionals and to fulfill the ethical obligations of the profession. These include a sense of justice, compassion, empathy, altruism, integrity, and demonstration of respect for and consideration of others. Takes appropriate responsibility for his or her own actions and considers the impact of these actions on others.

Cognitive Skills

The student exhibits sufficient knowledge of social work and clarity of thinking to process information and apply it to appropriate situations in classroom and field. The student demonstrates grounding in relevant social, behavioral and biological science knowledge and research including knowledge and skills in relationship building, data gathering, assessment, intervention, and evaluation of practice, and exhibits ability to conceptualize and integrate knowledge and apply that knowledge to professional practice.

Physical Skills

Physical attributes include adequate physical stamina and energy to carry out the responsibilities of social work over long hours and sensory abilities to support work in an agency setting with vulnerable clients.

Emotional and Mental Abilities Necessary for Performance in the Program and Professional Practice

Stress Management

The student demonstrates the ability to deal with current life stressors through the use of appropriate coping mechanism. Handles stress effectively by using appropriate self-care and developing supportive relationships with colleagues, peers, and others.

Emotional and Mental Capacities

The student uses sound judgement and seeks and effectively secures assistance for medical or emotional problems that interfere with scholastic and professional performance. The student also engages in counseling or seeks out support and help if personal problems, psychosocial distress, substance abuse, or mental health difficulties do any of the following:

- compromise scholastic and other performance,
- interfere with professional judgment and behavior, or
- jeopardize the best interests of those to whom the social work student has a
 professional responsibility (as outlined in the current Codes of Ethics by NASW
 and North Dakota Board of Social Work Examiners).

 $\frac{https://www.socialworkers.org/About/Ethics/Code-of-Ethics/Code-of-Ethics-English}{https://www.ndbswe.com/}$

<u>Professional Performance Skills Necessary for Work with Clients and Professional Practice</u>

Professional Commitment

The student exhibits a strong commitment to the goals of social work and to the ethical standards of the profession, as specified in the NASW Code of Ethics and the Code of Ethics for Social Work Licensure in North Dakota or other relevant boards. The student demonstrates commitment to the essential values of social work that includes the respect for the dignity and worth of every individual and the right of each individual to a just share of society's resources (social justice).

Professional Behavior

The student exhibits behaviors that are in compliance with program policies, institutional policies, professional ethical standards, and societal laws in classroom, field, and community. Shows potential for responsible and accountable behavior by knowing and practicing within the scope of social work, respecting others, being punctual and dependable, prioritizing responsibilities, attending class regularly, observing deadlines, completing assignments on time, keeping appointments or making appropriate arrangements, and accepting supervision and criticism in a positive manner.

Works effectively with others, regardless of level of authority. Advocates for him/herself in an

appropriate and responsible manner and uses proper channels for conflict resolution. Shows a willingness to receive and accept feedback and supervision in a positive manner, as well as use such feedback to enhance professional development.

Self-Awareness

The student exhibits knowledge of how one's values, attitudes, beliefs, emotions, and past experiences affect thinking, behavior, and relationships, and accurately assesses one's own strengths, limitations, and suitability for professional practice. The student shows awareness of self and how one is perceived by others. Reflects on one's own limitations as they relate to professional capacities. The student is willing to examine and change behavior when it interferes in working with clients and other professionals.

Ethical Obligations

Behavior and classroom performance demonstrate adherence to the ethical expectations and obligations of professional practice. Ethical behaviors include:

- Adherence to the NASW Code of Ethics and the Code of Ethics for Social Work Licensure in North Dakota or other relevant boards.
- No conviction of an offense(s) determined by the department to have a direct bearing upon
 that individual's ability to practice social work unless sufficiently rehabilitated as
 determined by the Department of Social Work. (Reference NDCC Chapter 43-41-10
 relative to grounds for denial of Social Work Licensure by the ND Board of Social
 Work Examiners).
- Systematic evaluation of clients and their situations in an unbiased, factual way. Suspension of personal biases during interactions with others.
- Comprehension of another individual's way of life and values. Empathic communication with and support of the client as a basis for a productive professional relationship.
- Appreciation for the value of diversity. Effective and nonjudgmental relation to and work with others who are different from oneself. Appropriate service to all persons in need of assistance, regardless of the person's age, class, race, religious beliefs, gender, disability, sexual orientation, and/or value system. No imposition of personal, religious, sexual, and/or cultural values on clients.
- Demonstration of respect for the rights of others. Commitment to clients' rights to freedom of choice and self-determination.
- Maintenance of confidentiality as it relates to human service, classroom activities, and field internship.
- Demonstration of honesty and integrity by being truthful about background, experiences, and qualifications; doing one's own work; giving credit for the ideas of

others; and providing proper citation of source materials.

- Demonstration of clear, appropriate, and culturally sensitive boundaries. Does not sexually harass others; make verbal or physical threats; become involved in sexual relationships with clients, supervisors, or faculty; abuse others in physical, emotional, verbal, or sexual ways; or participate in dual relationships where conflicts of interest may exist.
- The Department of Social Work does not promise that a license can be attained merely by completing the program.

Scholastic Performance

Information in this section was secured from UND policy regarding academic performance. Academic criteria is described in the *UND Undergraduate and Graduate Catalog*. The websites where you can find this information are located at:

http://und-public.courseleaf.com/

All social work students must maintain a 2.75 cumulative GPA and obtain at least a C or higher in all social work courses. Failure to maintain the minimum GPA results in a formal discussion with the student and the development of a required corrective action plan. Adherence to the action plan is then required to continue enrollment in the BSSW Program.

Sources of Information upon which Academic Performance is Based

Information about students' meeting academic performance criteria in the Department of Social Work may include but is not limited to any of the following:

- Feedback or reference letters from faculty, work supervisors, or supervisors of volunteer human service activity or other field experiences.
- Feedback from agency-based field instructors.
- Observation of classroom, volunteer, or field behaviors.
- Performance in oral and written assignments, examinations, social work skills labs, or other appropriate coursework.
- Student personal statements or self-assessments.
- Interviews with faculty or other professionals.
- Taped interview situations (audio or video).
- Feedback from students, staff, university (UND or other colleges and universities), helping professionals, or community about behaviors.

- Feedback from faculty in other social work programs that the student may have attended.
- The Department of Social Work will adhere to FERPA guidelines.

Accommodations for Disabilities

Material from this section was referenced from the University of North Dakota Disability Services for Students (DSS). No otherwise qualified student, on the basis of disability, shall be subjected to discrimination or excluded from participation in the Department of Social Work. A student with a disability may be protected by the Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA) and be eligible for a reasonable accommodation that will provide an equal opportunity to meet the academic criteria related to professional behavior and scholastic performance.

Any otherwise qualified student with a protected disability who requests a reasonable accommodation must notify DSS and provide documentation as needed. DSS makes recommendations for accommodations. The Department of Social Work will review academic performance criteria in light of individual student circumstances to explore issues of appropriateness and accommodation. An initial assessment, subsequent plan, use of outside experts (including DSS), and periodic checks between the Department of Social Work and the student are appropriate courses of action in making accommodations. Further information on DSS can be found at: https://und.edu/student-life/disability-services/

Student Rights and Responsibilities

Student Responsibility (Code of Student Life)

While UND faculty and staff members give students' academic advice and assistance, each student is expected to take responsibility for his or her education and personal development. The student must know and abide by the academic and disciplinary policies given in *UND's Undergraduate and Graduate Academic Catalog*, including rules governing quantity of work, the standard of work required to continue in UND, warning status and scholastic dismissal, and enforced withdrawal. First the student must know and meet the requirements of his or her degree program; must enroll in courses appropriate to the program; must meet prerequisites and take courses in the proper sequence to ensure orderly and timely progress; and must seek advice about degree requirements and other UND policies when necessary.

It is suggested that the student must give correct local and permanent address and telephone numbers to the Office of the Registrar. If email correspondence occurs, students are expected to use their UND email address. Official correspondence is sent to the address last given to the registrar; if the student has moved and failed to correct this address, he or she will not be relieved of responsibility on the grounds that the correspondence was not delivered.

The student must verify his or her schedule of classes each semester, must see that necessary corrections are made, and must keep documentation of all schedule changes and other transactions.

Harassment Policy

The University of North Dakota has policies to define and protect employees and students from harassment related to protected class.

UND's Policy on Discrimination and Harassment

The University of North Dakota (University/UND) is committed to the principle of equal opportunity in education and employment. UND does not discriminate on the basis of race, color, national origin, religion, sex, age, disability, sexual orientation, gender identity, genetic information, marital status, veteran's status, political belief or affiliation, or any other status protected by law or UND/North Dakota University System/State Board of Higher Education policy.

UND prohibits retaliation by its employees and students against a person who exercises their rights or responsibilities under any provision of state or federal law, including Title VII, the Americans with Disabilities Act, or the North Dakota Human Rights Act, or this policy.

Employees or students who violate this policy may face disciplinary action up to and including separation from the University. Third parties who commit discrimination or harassment may have their relationships with the University terminated and/or their privileges of being on University premises withdrawn.

Making a Report

The University encourages anyone who experiences discrimination or harassment to immediately report the incident to the University through the reporting options below. It is the University's policy to handle complaints at the earliest possible level to ensure a quick and effective response.

- 2. Using the on-line EO/Title IX report: https://campus.und.edu/equal-opportunity/incident-report.html
- 3. By contacting any of the following offices, as appropriate, in person, by phone, or in writing:

EO/Title IX Office – any report of harassment or discrimination Office of Student Rights & Responsibilities - any report against a student University Police Department – all reports of criminal activity.

Policies and Procedures for Review of Academic Performance

The Department of Social Work may utilize three levels of review to evaluate concerns regarding a student's academic performance. The level of review depends upon the severity of the concern. Information disclosed during student meetings with faculty, program directors, or school administrators will not be kept confidential if the information raises concerns about professional performance. Faculty and/or program directors will share pertinent information with each other for the professional purpose of identifying student issues and enhancing problem solving about the concerns on a need to know basis.

Performance that May Result in a Review and/or Dismissal from the BSSW Program

Student reviews can occur under any of the following circumstances:

- Failure to meet or maintain any of the "Criteria for Evaluating Academic Performance"
- Scholastic dishonesty, including cheating, lying, plagiarism, collusion, falsifying academic records, or any act designed to give unfair academic advantage to the student.
- Behavior judged to be in violation of the current NASW Code of Ethics.
- Any threat or attempt to harm oneself or someone else.
- Commission of a criminal act that is contrary to professional practice, occurring during the course of study or occurring prior to admission to the Department of Social Work and becoming known after admission.
- Consistent pattern of unprofessional behavior.

Academic Probation/Dismissal Policy

Information in this section was secured through the *UND Undergraduate and Graduate Academic Catalog* pertaining to *the Undergraduate Probation, Suspension, and Dismissal Policy*.

Scholastic Dishonesty

Students are expected to maintain scholastic honesty. Scholastic dishonesty includes but is not limited to cheating on a test, plagiarism, and collusion.

- A. Cheating on a test includes, but is not restricted to:
- 1. Copying from another student's test.
- 2. Possessing or using material during a test not authorized by the person giving the

- 3. Collaborating with or seeking aid from another student during a test without authority.
- 4. Knowingly using, buying, selling, stealing, transporting, or soliciting in whole or in part the contents of an unadministered test.
- 5. Substituting for another student or permitting another student to substitute for oneself to take a test.
- 6. Bribing another person to obtain an unadministered test or information about an unadministered test.
- B. Plagiarism means the appropriation, buying, receiving as a gift, or obtaining by any means another person's work and the unacknowledged submission or incorporation of it in one's own work. This includes appropriation of another person's work by the use of computers or any other electronic means.
- C. Collusion means the unauthorized collaboration with another person in preparing written work offered for credit.

For detailed policy statements and procedures dealing with scholastic dishonesty, see the *UND Code of Student Life*.

Undergraduate Students

- 1. Any student who does not maintain minimum academic requirements will, at the end of the term in which he or she fails to meet minimum standards, be placed on Academic Probation. Subsequent failure to meet these standards will result in dismissal from the university.
- 2. A student on Academic Probation may remove Probation by attaining a 2.0 GPA. A student on Academic Probation who does not remove his or her probation at the end of the next term (semester or summer session) in which he or she enrolls will be dismissed.
- 3. Students may apply for reinstatement only if highly extenuating circumstances have led to the academic deficiencies. Applications for reinstatement are processed through the office of your academic dean or program director. If you have not declared a major, please contact the Office of Admissions and Records.

Gatekeeping Policy: Concerns Regarding Student Performance

Social work is a professional program that prepares students for practice. As such, all social work students must demonstrate adherence with policies, maintain classroom expectations related to assignments and attendance, and demonstrate professional expectations and the ethical codes of conduct outlined in this handbook. Typically, if a faculty member has concerns about student behavior, the initial concerns will be addressed informally in person as a first step toward remediation. However, there are three levels of formal gatekeeping, which are described below, and the process can begin at any of the three levels depending on the context. For instance any concern that would normally be reported to the State Board of Social Workers must be addressed with a Level 3 review, including gross breech of boundaries, impairment due to substances that affects work, substantiated child abuse, or criminal allegations related to physical harm to another person.

The BSSW Program Director and student advisor will generally be included in the process, and, if the student is in a field placement, the Field Director and agency-based field instructor and liaison may also be involved. Students will receive a copy of all gatekeeping documents and have an opportunity to respond.

(Refer to the *BSSW Student Field Education Manual* for policies and procedures for evaluating students in Field Education.)

Levels of Review

Level 1

A Level 1 review involves a meeting between a faculty member and a student, and occurs when a faculty member has concerns about a student enrolled in the social work program meeting regarding either professional behavior or scholastic performance. After the level 1 meeting, faculty (unilaterally or in consult with other faculty) will decide whether the issue is resolved, requires follow-up, or needs to be further addressed at level 2 or 3.

Level 2

A Level 2 review involves the faculty member, student, the student's advisor, and the BSSW Program Director and/or Field Director (as appropriate). After the level 2 meeting, faculty will decide whether the issue is resolved, requires follow-up, or needs to be further addressed at level 3.

Level 3

A Level 3 review involves the faculty member, student, the student's academic advisor, the BSSW Program Director and/or Field Director (as appropriate), and possibly other relevant participants. At the student's request, the BSSW Student Representative can also be present.

Generally, this level review is called when problematic patterns are identified with students or when the issues are serious enough to require formal consultation that may lead to

immediate dismissal from the program. The student will be notified in writing of the concerns and meeting date, with at least 48 hours to prepare for the meeting.

After the meeting has occurred, the program director or advisor will consult with the Chair of the Department who may consult with the Dean to discuss the situation and make recommendations regarding the student. Based on these steps the advisor, appropriate Director(s), and the BSSW Committee will inform the student of the decisions, which can include, but may not be limited to, one or more of the following actions:

- Continued participation in the program with no conditions.

 In these situations, the concern has been addressed and no further action is required.
- Establish formal conditions for the student's continuance in the program.

 In these situations, specific conditions must be met for the student to remain in the program. Action may include establishing goals, a timeline and plan, and appropriate monitoring; providing mentoring and support; placing the student on probation and monitoring the student during the probationary period; referring the student to counseling and/or advising services; allowing the student to follow a reduced course load or delayed entry to the field internship; requiring the student to withdraw from the program with the option of reapplying; or other steps as determined during the process.
- Consult with and/or refer to the Dean of Students.
- In some instances the University's Office of the Dean of Students may be consulted. If a referral is made to that Office after consultation, the student will be notified in writing about the nature of the concern and the fact that the referral is taking place. Situations which may result in referral to the Office of the Dean of Students include scholastic dishonesty, hazing, racial or sexual harassment, possession or use of firearms or other weapons on university property, damage or destruction of university property, and conduct that endangers the health or safety of any university student, employee, or campus visitor.
- Counsel the student to change majors/degree programs and/or discontinue the student in the program.
- In some situations, it will be recommended that the student no longer continue in the social work program. In such cases the student may be counseled to voluntarily change majors or degree programs. If that advice is not pursued, the student will be dismissed from the program and possibly from the university.

Level 3 reviews should include clear, concise documentation of the problem areas as well as verification that these concerns have been discussed with the student (see Appendix III, BSSW Program Gatekeeping Documentation Form). The Program Director or other, appropriate authority will provide written notification of the decision within ten calendar days of the review.

Academic Grievances—Student Opportunity to Address Concerns

Pursuant to the student grievance procedures for undergraduate and graduate students provided in the *Code of Student Life*, students enrolled in the social work program have the right to express a complaint and to engage a process including the possibility to redress grievances related to academic matters, including decisions that are the result of reviews of these Standards for Social Work Education. Students are assured freedom from reprisals for bringing a grievance.

Procedures for Handling Academic Grievances Definition

The Department of Social Work will follow the procedures outlined by the college pertaining to academic grievances. The term "academic grievance" is defined as: A statement expressing a complaint, resentment, or accusation lodged by a student about an academic circumstance (such as grading, testing, quality of instruction) which is thought by the student to be unfair.

Academic issues concerning grievance procedures differ from those described in the academic petition process. The petition process includes a request by the student to have a university, college, or program requirement waived or modified. It may include the right to appeal under circumstances outlined in the petition process. The substance of petitions and appeals is under the jurisdiction of individual colleges, schools, programs, or designated university committees. If a student thinks that a petition has not been handled fairly, the student may initiate a grievance based upon unfair treatment, but not upon the substantive issue.

The Grievance Process

For undergraduate students, this process applies to any "complaint, resentment, or accusation lodged by a student about an academic circumstance (such as grading, testing, quality of instruction) which is thought by the student to be unfair" (*UND Code of Student Life*, Section 1).

The academic issues subject to the grievance procedures specified within this policy differ from those issues subject to the academic petition process, which include a request by the student to have a university, college, or program requirement waived or modified. "If a student thinks that a petition has not been handled fairly, the student may initiate a grievance based upon unfair

treatment, but not upon the substantive issue" (*Code of Student Life*, Section 1).

All concerns within the scope of this policy must be pursued through the appropriate levels. For students, that is student and instructor, then

Department Chair, and then College Dean. Faculty concerns should be addressed first to the appropriate Department Chair and then to the Dean.

Grievance Options

Any person who has a problem, complaint, or resentment, which may become subject to

this grievance policy must attempt to resolve the grievance at the department level. That individual shall hereinafter be referred to as the "grievant" and the issue of concern shall be referred to as the "grievance." If the grievance involves administrators (other than the Dean) or staff at the college level and/or college policies or procedures, other than those associated with the academic petition process, the Dean shall assign a Department Chair to handle the grievance in the manner noted below. If the grievance involves the Dean, the Provost and Vice President for Academic Affairs shall assign a Department Chair or Dean of another college to handle the grievance in the manner noted below.

1. Informal Options

The grievant shall discuss the grievance first with the person(s) involved as part of an attempt to resolve the situation.

After initial contact, the grievant may attempt to use either negotiation or mediation, or both, before initiating a formal grievance. In most instances, the grievant should attempt to resolve the grievance through negotiation by discussing the concern with the instructor and/or the Department Chair.

The grievant may initiate mediation by requesting assistance from any person or entity appropriate to provide mediation. If the person or entity requested to mediate the concern agrees to do so, that mediator shall contact the instructor and/or the Department Chair and proceed with mediation if that party agrees.

2. Formal Options

Within twenty (20) days of the occurrence which forms the basis for the grievance, or within ten (10) days of the final attempt at negotiation or the final effort at mediation, whichever is later, the grievant shall file a written grievance to the Department Chair, indicating the basis for the grievance and the specific remedy sought.

The Department Chair shall visit with the grievant and the individual(s) alleged to be the basis for the grievance and shall request such additional information as deemed necessary to render a response to the grievance.

Within fifteen (15) days after the grievance has been provided, the Department Chair shall provide the parties to the grievance with a written statement indicating what actions, if any, will be taken in response to the grievance.

It is the responsibility of the Chair to retain a record of the investigation of the grievance and copies of any relevant documents procured thereby.

This will be held in the Deans office as the office of record.

Grievance Procedures

1. Procedure and Timing

An appeal of a Department Chair's decision must be submitted by either party involved in the grievance (referred to in this stage of the process as the "appellant") to the Dean within fifteen (15) working days after notification of the decision of the Department Chair. The appeal must indicate the basis for disagreement with the Department Chair's decision and the remedy sought. A copy of the Department Chair's decision must accompany the appeal. The College Appeals Committee will be formed and a Chair elected within five (5) working days after the appeal has been filed.

The appeal process will be completed in twenty (20) working days from the day the committee is formed, unless all parties mutually agree to an extension of this timeline, or upon a showing of good cause by any party, an extension is granted by the committee. A copy of the recommendation of the College Appeals Committee will be sent within five (5) working days after completion of the appeal process by the Committee Chair to the parties, including the appellant, the Dean, the second party to the original grievance, and the Chair of the Department in which the grievance was originally considered.

2. Selection of the College Grievance Committee

Members of the College Grievance Committee pool will be selected in the academic departments through elections conducted by September 1 of each year. Within each department, two faculty members, and two undergraduate students (if appropriate) will be selected for the pool.

For each appeal by academic staff, four faculty names will be drawn by lot from the college pool. Members of the department involved in the appeal being heard will be excluded from the drawing. In the event that any of the four faculty representatives are unavailable at the time of the hearing(s), additional name(s) will be drawn from the college pool.

In the case of student appeals, an undergraduate student also will be selected from the pool, by lot, to serve with the four faculty members. Any student(s) representing the department involved in the appeal will be excluded from the drawing. In the event that the student representative is unavailable at the time of the hearing(s), a new representative will be selected from the college pool.

3. Committee Procedures

The committee must hold a meeting and elect a Chair within five (5) working days after the appeal has been filed. Selection of the Chair shall be by nomination of the committee members and majority vote of those individuals.

The committee shall set a date, time, and place for a hearing to receive testimony from the parties to the appeal.

The appellant, the second party to the original grievance, and/or the Department Chair whose decision is being appealed may provide documents for consideration by the committee. A copy of all such documents related to the appeal, including the file compiled by the Department Chair in conducting the original investigation, will be provided to the Dean's office for distribution to the committee members, Chair of the Department involved, appellant, and second party to the original grievance at least three (3) working days prior to the hearing.

4. Hearing Procedures

At least twenty-four (24) hours prior to the opening of the hearing, the appellant will provide a signed written statement to the Dean's office declaring whether the hearing is to be open or closed to the public. In the absence of such statement, the hearing is to be closed to the public.

Before the presentations by the principal parties to the Grievance Committee, the following instructions will be read by the chairperson: This process is not a disciplinary hearing, legal proceeding, or a courtroom process. The first phase of the meeting is designed for the committee to obtain information on the related factors and aspects of the appeal. The appellant and respondent will present their positions. Principal parties will not have the right to cross-examine each other. The committee has the right to question all parties in its attempt to achieve an understanding of the issue(s).

To begin, the appellant(s) will present their position(s) to the committee, followed by the presentation by the respondent. Any other principal parties, earlier identified, will be allowed to make a presentation. The committee may then follow with questions. After this phase of the meeting, the committee will deliberate and reach a final decision. If the principal parties choose to stay during the committee's deliberations, they may not participate. The principal parties and the Dean will be notified by the Chair of the Committee, in writing, of the decision within five (5) working days after completion of the appeal process.

The appellant will begin the hearing by giving an account of the problem, complaint, or resentment that led to the grievance. The appellant will also provide a response to the Department Chair's decision regarding the grievance.

The Department Chair who issued the department level decision against

- which the appeal was filed shall then give an account of the issue(s), the investigation, and the decision. The second party to the original grievance, other than the appellant, will then be invited to give his or her account of the issue(s). However, the party is under no obligation to give such an account.
- The principal parties involved may ask other persons to provide supporting testimony at the hearing. Each of these individuals must be identified to the committee prior to the hearing. If the hearing is an open hearing witnesses may not be present in the hearing room until after they have provided testimony and it has been determined that they will not be recalled for further testimony.
- Any questions or responses by the parties involved in the appeal hearing will be directed through the chairperson and will be presented only after both sides have concluded their testimony.
- The Grievance Committee Chair will assure that the discussion is limited to the specific matter(s) listed in the appellant's written appeal and will restrict the committee recommendation(s) to the specific matter(s) cited in that appeal. During the appeal hearing, the appellant may have an advisor present, but the advisor may not ask questions of parties to the appeal or witnesses and will not be allowed to address the committee unless asked to do so, or unless given permission to do so.

5. *Committee Decision*

The Grievance Committee will consider all documents and testimony provided by the parties prior to deliberation. A quorum, defined as four out of five members for a student appeal or three out of four for a faculty appeal, must be present at the time of the vote. The recommendation(s) of the committee shall be approved by a majority vote of those present. The Committee Chair will vote only in case of a tie.

Any appeal not resolved at this level may be brought by either party to the appropriate university committee. Students should consult the UND Code of Student Life, Section 3.

Non-Academic Grievances

Student-initiated grievances that are not academic in nature are addressed in other documents. Students should refer to the *Code of Student Life* and the *UND Undergraduate* and Graduate Academic Catalog for a more detailed discussion of specific grievance procedures.

Chapter 4: General Information

Student Participation on Department Committees

In addition to the following descriptions of committee assignments, students are also invited to teaching demonstrations of potential new faculty and are invited to provide Likert and narrative feedback through Qualtrics surveys.

The following department committees include faculty, student and community representatives:

Bachelor of Science in Social Work (BSSW) Committee (one student representative)

Purpose: Assist the Director of the BSSW Program in the following components of administering the BSSW Program: 1) serve as the admissions committee, 2) assist with gate keeping of student progress, 3) oversee development and updating of the student handbook, 4) schedule courses, 5) assist in problem solving related to student progress, 6) update catalog copy to assure adherence to accreditation guidelines, and 7) provide development, oversight, and maintenance of the curriculum including textbook selection.

Membership: Three Department of Social Work faculty members (one from each curriculum content area committee), one student representative, and one social work community representative.

Committee Chair: Director of the BSSW Program

Selection: Faculty representatives are volunteer or are elected by the voting members of the Department of Social Work faculty if competition exists. Community and student representatives are recommended by the Department of Social Work faculty and appointed by the Director of the BSSW Program. The BSSW Director will attend the Student Social Work Association once per semester to seek feedback and guidance on the program from the students, and to request student participation on committees.

Licensure Information

The North Dakota Board of Social Work Examiners is responsible for licensing qualified applicants in North Dakota to practice social work, and to ensure that licensees comply with the relevant laws and regulations governing social work practice. https://www.legis.nd.gov/cencode/t43c41.pdf?20150722090317

Students majoring in social work at UND are permitted to take the North Dakota licensing exam during the semester they complete their final graduation requirements. Information regarding licensing can be obtained from the North Dakota Board of Social Work Examiners. For other states, students should contact their state licensing board or the Association of Board of Social Work Examiners. https://www.aswb.org/

Important: A license may still be required even if the job does not require direct client

contact, the job title is not social worker, or if the employer does not require licensure. It is the responsibility of all BSSW graduates who go on to work in a social work practice setting, to know their states licensure requirements and obtain a license! Practicing without a license can be grounds for disciplinary action.

APPENDICES

Appendix I

University of North Dakota Department of Social Work

BSSW Program Agreement

•	W Program, this form must be statement and sign and date at the	•	advisor.
accurate and given for the p	hat all of the information I have ourpose of consideration for adn ad the NASW Code of Ethics and	nission to the UND BSSW Pro	gram.
•	viewed the BSSW Student Hand	book, and I am aware that there	e is a
Gatekeeping Policy in place			• 15 u
1 0 1	and the requirements for the Bac	helor of Science in Social Wor	k degree,
as outlined in the student ac stated requirements.	lvising form, and understand that	at I have final responsibility to	meet the
	and that I am responsible to sche	edule appointments with my ad	visor, meet
	low course suggestions provided nd that if admitted to the progra		to obtain a
3.0 GPA in all social work	courses during my first semeste and that a student's likely perfor	r in the program.	
and/or ability to obtain a so	cial work license is not guarante	•	
North Dakota Department of	or Social work program.		
Student Name	Student Signature	Date	
Advisor or Faculty Signatur	re	Date	

Appendix II

University of North Dakota Department of Social Work

Change of Advisor Form

Name	ID#
Email Address	Phone#
Name of Current Advisor	
Reason for Request	
a new advisor. A reasonable attempt shou does not feel comfortable talking to their conflict with someone from the Social W	ir current advisor regarding the reason for their request for all be made to resolve the issue or conflict. If a student current advisor, they have the option of discussing the ork Administrative Team (BSSW Program Director, MSW Id Program Director, or Distance Program Coordinator).
Signature of Current Advisor or Adminis	trative Team Member
After completing this form, please submit	t to the BSSW Program Director, Gillette Room 302B.
If you have any questions, please contact	the BSSW Program Director.
Signature of Student	Date
To be completed by BSSW Program D	irector:
New advisor assignment	
Signature of RSSW Director	Date

Appendix III

UND Social Work Program Gatekeeping Documentation Form

Student Name			Student II	D			
Date of Meeting			Program	BSSW	MS	SW	
Person initiating Gat	ekeeping Meeting						
The student has been location of the gateke	_	. •				ınd	
Please indicate the le	vel of this gatekeep ween faculty and stu	_					
Level 2 (bet	ween faculty, studer	nt, program dire	ector, and a	dvisor)			
	ween faculty, studer mation; when incide						ants
individual initia	ompleted document ting the form, and th n field. Copies will be	ne Program Dire	ector, as we	ell as the	Field Dire	ecto	r if
Is the student not meetin Criteria? (See BSSW or M	-		_		ogram Per	orm	ance
Basic Abilities Necessary to Communication Interpersonal Sk Cognitive Skills Physical Skills	Skills	lls Professi	onal Performa Profession Profession Self-Aware Ethical obl	nal Commi Ial Behavio Eness	tment		
Mental and Emotional Abili Stress Managem		Scholast	tic Performan		and SWK		
=	Лental Capacities		_	Requireme			

Is the student violating a UND Code of Student Life Policy, university policy/standard, or Social Work Code of Ethics standard? If so, please indicate which policy/standard.
Reason/s for gatekeeping meeting (Please be as detailed as possible. Indicate specific
concerns regarding the student, any academic criteria or university policies not being met,
dates of any incidents, relevant correspondence between you and the student or others
involved, or attach other documentation.)
Please list all persons present at the gatekeeping meeting and their relationship to the
riease list all persons present at the gatekeeping meeting and their relationship to the
student.

Date Date Date Date	
Date Date Date	
Date	Faculty initiating meeting
Date	Program and/or Field Director
	Advisor Signature
rocess and the reasons this gatekeeping meeting	Advisor Signature Department Chair Signature (if level 3)
or actions to be taken by the Department of Socio quences I may face if these expectations are not i	Department Chair Signature (if level 3)
or actions to be taken by the D	Advisor Signature

Copies will be kept separate from academic file, and be made available to social work faculty for reasons related to performance review and field placement.

A student may attach a written response to this form.

Appendix IV

CNPD Social Media Policy

Policy Number: 200

Policy Name: Student Social Media Policy (SSMP) for CNPD

Students

Reviewed by: College Faculty Last Review Date: 03/26/2018

POLICY STATEMENT

This policy describes expected student behaviors when using social media sites.

REASON for POLICY

The College of Nursing and Professional Disciplines (CNPD) faculty recognize the role social media plays in today's society. As professionals in our respective disciplines (Nursing, Social Work, and Nutrition) that are in training, CNPD students are held to a high standard when it comes to the presentation of themselves in the community and on social media sites. As students enter their professional careers, it is important that they carefully consider what they are posting on social media sites, who they are asking to network with them, and how they respond to others on social media sites. Information placed on social media sites must not violate the University's Code of Student Life, the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act (HIPAA), or the Family Educational Rights and Privacy Act (FERPA).

SCOPE of POLICY

All Undergraduate and Graduate Students in the College of Nursing and Professional Disciplines (Departments of Nursing, Nutrition and Dietetics, and Social Work)

RESPONSIBILITIES

	Responsible to monitor their professional behavior on social media sites and report violations of HIPAA or FERPA to the appropriate authority.
Department	Provide a copy of the Social Media Policy to all students
	1) Violations of the Social Media Policy should be reported utilizing the following chain of command: Department Chair CNPD Associate Dean CNPD Dean

UND Assistant Dean of Students, Director of Student Rights & Responsibilities
2) Investigate reports of violations of this policy and determine

PRINCIPLES

OVERVIEW – This policy establishes professional behavior regarding student use of social media sites.

Students should not have the expectation that social network sites are private. Students should assume that what they post on a social media site is permanent. Archival systems may save information even if someone deletes a post, and search engines can retrieve posts years after the publication date. When using social networks, the lines between public and private, personal, and professional are indistinct. Mixing social, academic and professional networking may create problems. Because comments can be forwarded or copied, a person authorized to post on a student's social media page can pass it on to others. Friends may post something to a student's site regarding their social life, which may prove to be embarrassing to the student's academic or professional life. Posting media that portrays students or their peers participating in what could be perceived as unprofessional behavior such as inappropriate sexualized behaviors, drinking, drug use and illegal activity is not advised. Students are encouraged to check their privacy settings on social media sites to limit who can and cannot read and post to their sites. Students should also consider conducting an Internet search of their name to discover what is in cyberspace that others can see about them. If students have any social media posts that are questionable, they should remove them from their site immediately.

Employers, faculty, clinical preceptors, field educators, patients, and clients may access information on student's social media sites that may negatively influence them regarding the student's professionalism. Many potential employers go to these sites to see what students have posted and often determine if they are interested in having that student as an employee. Students have been reprimanded by clinical rotation site supervisors for social networking practices such as becoming electronic "friends" with site co-workers, interns, volunteers, patients, or clients. To promote respectful discussion, students should be courteous and respectful. With due regard for lawfully protected speech and forms of expression, students should strive to avoid comments that are profane, obscene, defamatory, offensive, harassing, disruptive, sexually explicit, inappropriate, inflammatory or otherwise objectionable. Harassing speech that is severe, persistent, or pervasive, and is objectively offensive, is never permitted.

Students are required to use their official UND email address for all professional correspondence and academic issues related to their role as a professional UND student. Student must recognize that they are a representative of their professional program and are expected to act professionally in all correspondence. Students are reminded that North Dakota has an open records law, which means that all UND e-mail is potentially subject to open records. As such, students may want to consider setting up a private email account with a different provider than the UND for personal correspondence.

ACADEMIC INTEGRITY AND PROFESSIONALISM:

Discussing or posting information regarding content of examinations, tests, quizzes, or assignments could be considered a violation of a department's policy on Academic Integrity. It is the student's responsibility to read their student handbook regarding academic integrity and professionalism as defined by their department. The use of social media or personal devices to threaten, intimidate, ridicule, humiliate, insult, or harass someone may constitute cyber- bullying. Students experiencing this type of behavior as well as those who witness it are required to report utilizing the following chain of command: Department Chair \square CNPD Associate Dean \square CNPD Dean \square UND Assistant Dean of Students, Director of Student Rights & Responsibilities.

CNPD students have a responsibility to help maintain public trust and confidence in their professions. Students should refrain from posts that use institutional intellectual property, copyrights, trademarks or logos without explicit written permission. Such care should also extend to the unauthorized dissemination of copyrighted material, such as lecture notes and recordings. Students should not represent themselves as official representatives of the University or clinical facility in public forums. Consent obtained for educational purposes does not extend to consent for public dissemination. Even when appropriate consent is obtained for public posting and the mediacontaining posts are sufficiently anonymized, public perception remains an important consideration. An individual viewing a sensitive picture posted online by a CNPD student might not assume consent has been obtained and may therefore come to think less of the student, their profession and the institution. The separation between personal and professional online profiles should be made explicit. Faculty and Administrators reserve the right to monitor student's publicly viewable social media sites.

CLINICAL EXPERIENCES AND FIELD PLACEMENTS:

Students participating in practice experiences (clinical experiences, field placements, or supervised practice) must consult with the hospital/clinic or agency policies or an appropriate leader within the organization for guidance regarding work related social media postings.

Clinical and field experiences are also frequently governed by a legally binding agreement between the host facility and the University. Unless authorized, students are not allowed to post or speak on behalf of the clinic, hospital, or agency. Students must be aware of and comply with clinical affiliation policies regarding use of computers, cameras, and other electronic devices and the use of personal devices at the clinical site. Students are advised not to ask their faculty, preceptors, instructors, or field supervisors to "friend" and/or "follow" them via social media during their time in the educational program. This puts the student, their faculty, and their supervisors in an awkward situation by sharing personal information. If students and supervisors mutually decide to do this after the student graduates, that is their personal choice. Students are strongly advised to refrain from posting remarks about faculty or clinical site employees and from making comments that are or may be perceived to be profane, obscene, defamatory, offensive, harassing, disruptive, sexually explicit, inappropriate, inflammatory or otherwise objectionable. Harassing speech that is severe, persistent, or pervasive, and is objectively offensive, is never permitted.

HIPAA & FERPA

Students violating HIPAA, FERPA, or other university/hospital/clinic/agency policies may be subject to disciplinary action including dismissal from their professional program, criminal

and/or civil charges and fines. Students must not present themselves as licensed practitioners, and are advised to refrain from offering medical advice in any non-educational setting, including on social media.

CNPD students must recognize that they have an ethical and legal obligation to maintain patient privacy and confidentiality at all times. Releasing confidential health information is unethical, unlawful, and could result in irreparable harm and suffering to the patient as well as fines or imprisonment for the healthcare practitioner. CNPD students must not identify patients by name or post or publish information that may lead to the identification of a patient. Students must not refer to patients in a disparaging manner, even if the patient is not identified.

CNPD students are strictly prohibited from transmitting by way of any electronic media any patient related information or images that may be reasonably anticipated to violate a patient's rights to confidentiality or privacy. This includes references to family, employment, relatives, conditions, locations of treatment or any circumstances surrounding the patient's situation. Posting information about, or images of, a research subject is strictly prohibited.

CNPD students must follow CNPD clinical affiliation and UND policies for taking photographs or video of patients for treatment or other legitimate purposes using employer-provided devices. CNPD students must not share, post, or otherwise disseminate any information, including images, about a patient or information gained in the student-patient relationship with anyone unless there is a patient care related need to disclose the information or other legal obligation to do so unless appropriate permissions are obtained. Online social contact with patients is discouraged, and students must use caution when having online social contact with former patients. The fact that a patient may initiate contact with the student does not permit the student to engage in a personal relationship with the patient. It is unprofessional and inadvisable to form or accept a social media connection with patients or individuals with whom there is an active therapeutic, supervisory or evaluative relationship.

PROCEDURES

DISCIPLINARY ACTION:

Violation of the social media policy may result in disciplinary action by the student's department, the CNPD, UND, the field agency, and/or the clinical facility. Suspected violations should be reported within 5 business days as outlined in the Student Social Media Policy Suspected Violation Procedure (200a).

WEB SITE REFERENCES

UND School of Medicine and Health Sciences Policy Office. https://med.und.edu/policies/_files/docs/3.10-social-media.pdf

Professionalism Considerations for Online Social Networking Usage. Creighton University School of Pharmacy and Health Professions.

https://spahp.creighton.edu/sites/spahp.creighton.edu/files/Social%20Networking.pdf

Canadian Federation of Medical Students Guide to Medical Professionalism: Recommendations for Social Media.

https://www.cfms.org/files/internal-policy-bylaws/CFMS%20Guide%20to%20Social%20Media%20Professionalism.pdf

Social Networking Policy. Duke University.

https://medschool.duke.edu/sites/default/files/field/attachments/Social%20Media%20Policy.pdf

National Association of Social Workers Code of Ethics.

https://socialwork.utexas.edu/dl/files/academic-programs/other/nasw-code-of-ethics.pdf

A Nurse's Guide to the Use of Social Media. National Council of State Boards of Nursing. https://www.ncsbn.org/Social_Media.pdf

Social Media Policy Best Practices. University of Tennessee at Chattanooga. https://www.utc.edu/communications-marketing/social-media/best-practices.php

Note: This policy was adapted with permission from the UND School of Medicine and Health Sciences *Social Media Policy for all SMHS Students*.

Policy Number: 200a

Policy Name: Student Social Media Policy Suspected Violation Procedure

Reviewed by: CNPD Faculty Last Review Date: 03/26/2018

Procedure:

In situations where a faculty member, field/clinical agency staff, preceptor or another student witness and/or are advised of a suspected violation of the Student Social Media Policy(SSMP), action will be taken promptly to address the issue with the student.

Reporting and Documentation Process for a Suspected Violation of the Student Social Media Policy

- 1. Reports of suspected and/or witnessed misconduct should be made to the appropriate Department Chair within 5 business days of the suspected occurrence. Failure to report will result in disciplinary action.
- 2. Within 5 business day of report of the suspected violation the SSMP form (200b) is completed by the Department Chair and the Associate Dean or Dean is notified
- 3. Department Chair will set up meetings with students involved in suspected and/or witnessed occurrence.
- 4. Documentation of the meeting details will be recorded on the SSMP form (200b) and a copy will be placed in the student file. All documentation related to a suspected or witnessed violation will be removed from the student file upon graduation from the college.
- 5. Depending on the seriousness of the violation, field/clinical experiences may be suspended during the process of investigation.

Disciplinary Sanctions for a Suspected Violation of the Code of Conduct

Upon completion of investigation,

- 1. Department Chair will determine if sanctions will occur within the program of study or will be referred to the Associate Dean or Dean.
- 2. Sanctions may include but are not limited to, grade reduction, failure of the assignment, failure of the course.
- 3. Sanctions will be communicated in writing to the student/students by the Department Chair.
- 4. Incidents of misconduct that are deemed to have broader impact as determined by Department Chair will be referred to the Associate Dean or Dean for disciplinary sanction.
- 5. Sanctions by the Associate Dean or Dean will be communicated in writing to the student/students involved in the occurrence.

Student Appeals Process

Students have right to appeal sanctions as outlined in appropriate department and university policies.

(form):

Policy Name: Suspected Violation of Student Social Media Policy Form

Reviewed by: CNPD Faculty Last Review Date: 03/26/2018

Student Name:			
Department:			
-			

Action Plan	Description	
S-Situation	Briefly describe the suspected behavior	
	or action of concern.	
B-Background	Document the facts suspected behavior	
	or action, including date, time,	
	location/medium, situation, names of	
	persons involved as applicable	
A-Assessment	Identify the seriousness of the behavior	
	or action as it relates to CNPD policies	
R-Recommendations	Set a time and date for a follow up	
	meeting to discuss an action plan for	
	addressing the suspected behavior or	
	action	
		Follow-Up Meeting:

Faculty Signature:		Date:
Student Signature:		Date:
Action Plan	Description	
Follow-up Meeting	Plan to address suspected behavior or action is shared with student, including resources needed to reach the desired outcome.	
Resolution	Describe resolution	
Faculty Signature:		Date:
Student Signature:		Date:

Copy of this form is to be placed in student file and will be removed on student graduation.